

**BYLAWS**

**FOR THE**

**SETA HEAD START/EARLY HEAD START**

**PARENT ADVISORY COMMITTEE**

**PAC First Reading: 10/15/2024**  
**PAC Final Approval: 11/19/2024**

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

<b><u>ARTICLE/TITLE</u></b>	<b><u>PAGE NUMBER</u></b>
<b>Article I: Name</b>	
Section 1: Definition of Parents	1
<b>Article II: Purpose, Powers and Functions</b>	
Section 1: Purpose (A-F)	1-2
Section 2: Powers, Duties and Functions (A-B)	2
<b>Article III: Membership</b>	
Section 1: Election of Members	3
Section 2: Members (A-C)	3-4
Section 3: Policy Council Members	4
Section 4: Alternates (A-D)	4-5
Section 5: Other Provisions (A-F)	5-6
Section 6: California Head Start Association (CHSA), Representative/Alternate	6
Section 7: Term of Office	6
Section 8: Attendance (A-E)	6-7
Section 9: Removal	7
<b>Article IV: Meetings</b>	
Section 1: Meetings (A-C)	7-8
Section 2: Meeting Notice (A-E)	8-9
Section 3: Meeting Reimbursement (A-D)	9-10
Section 4: Rules of Procedures (A-B)	10
Section 5: Nominations/Elections	10-11
Section 6: Voting	11
<b>Article V: Officers</b>	
Section 1: Officers	11
Section 2: Election and Term of Office (A-C)	11
Section 3: Duties of Officers (A-E)	11-12
Section 4: Vacancy (A-B)	12-13
<b>Article VI: Committees</b>	
Section 1: Standing Committees (A-E)	13-14
Section 2: Program Area Committees	14-15
Section 3: Special Committees	15
<b>Article VII: Reports</b>	
Section 1: Reports	15
<b>Article VIII: Bylaws: Bylaws Amendment (A-E)</b>	16

**BYLAWS  
FOR THE SETA HEAD START/EARLY HEAD START PARENT  
ADVISORY COMMITTEE**

## **Article I**

### **Name**

This committee shall be named the SETA Head Start/Early Head Start Parent Advisory Committee, hereinafter referred to as the PAC. Head Start and Early Head Start shall be referred to as HS and EHS.

#### **SECTION 1: Definition of**

##### **Parents**

Head Start parent means a Head Start child's mother or father, other family member who is a primary care giver, foster parent, guardian or the person with whom the child has been placed for purposes of adoption pending a final adoption decree [in accordance with the Head Start Performance Standards, 45CFR 1305.2. All future reference of parents will be defined as such.

## **Article II**

### **Purpose, Powers, and Functions**

#### **SECTION 1: Purpose**

The purpose of the PAC shall be to promote the objectives of the HS/EHS Child Development Program of the SETA Grantee Operated Head Start Program (referred to as SOP), State of California, as established by the Federal Economic Opportunity Act of 1964, as amended. The purpose of the PAC shall include, but not necessarily be limited to:

- A. Serve as a link between public and private organizations, the Grantee Policy Council, and the community it serves.
- B. Have the opportunity to initiate suggestions and ideas for program improvements and to receive a report on action taken by the administering agency with regard to its recommendations.
- C. Plan, coordinate, and organize activities for parents involved in the SOP with the assistance of staff, and ensure funds that are set aside from program budgets are used to support parent activities.

- D. Assist in communicating with parents and encourage their participation in the SOP to ensure that they understand their rights, responsibilities and opportunities in HS and EHS.
- E. Assist in recruiting volunteer services from parents, community residents, and community organizations, and assist in the mobilization of community resources to meet identified needs.
- F. Administer the Parent Activity funds for the SOP.

## **SECTION 2: Powers, Duties, and Functions**

The PAC shall exercise all such powers, duties, and functions as granted to it, by the Policy Council.

- A. Individual members, shall not engage in any activities or assume any such powers, duties or functions that are contrary to or in conflict with state and federal law or applicable administrative regulations specifically including, but not limited to, the guidelines, regulations, or policies established by the Federal Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), and the Administration for Children, and Families (ACF), SETA and the goals and objectives of the HS/EHS Program.
- B. The functions of the PAC, in partnership with staff and all other persons responsible, are as follows:
  - 1. Development and operation of all program content areas, including curriculum in the SOP.
  - 2. Assisting in carrying out SOP classroom activities.
  - 3. Planning, conducting, and participating in all programs and activities for SOP parents and staff.
  - 4. Participating in recruitment and screening of SOP employees (this function is contingent upon annual delegation from the Policy Council).
  - 5. Planning, developing, and ratifying the SOP Budget prior to final approval by the Policy Council (in reference to the Policy Council Bylaws).
  - 6. PAC reimbursements for reasonable expenses incurred by members conducting PAC business

# Article III

## Membership

### **SECTION 1: Election of Members**

As outlined in Article III, Section 2, the PAC shall consist of elected voting representatives from SOP HS/EHS Early Learning center classrooms, SOP Home Base, EHS/Home Base Options, and Community Representatives, elected by the PAC. The Outgoing PAC Chair shall have a reserved seat.

The Parent Ambassador Committee Representatives shall be elected by the Parent Ambassador Committee.

### **SECTION 2: Members**

The membership of the PAC shall consist of:

#### **A. SOP Parent Representatives**

Parent Representatives must be a parent of a child/children currently enrolled in the SOP Head Start program.

1. One (1) voting Representative elected per HS/EHS SOP center.
2. Two (2) voting Representatives elected from the SOP Home Base Program.
3. Two (2) voting Representatives elected from the SOP EHS/Home Base Program.

#### **B. Partner Representatives**

4. One (1) voting Representative elected from EHS Home Based Partnership (River Oak)
5. One (1) voting Representative elected from EHS Home Based Partnership (SCOE)

#### **C. Community Representatives**

Additional PAC members shall include:

1. Four (4) voting Community Agency Representatives shall be elected by the PAC. There shall be four (4) Alternates for Community Agency Representatives.

2. Two (2) voting Past Parents shall be elected by the current PAC if the outgoing PAC has been resolved. The Past Parent elected to the PAC may not have a child/children currently enrolled in the HS/EHS program. There shall be two Alternates for Past Parent Representatives.
3. One (1) voting Grandparent elected to the PAC must have a child/children currently enrolled or previously enrolled in the HS/EHS program. There shall be one Alternate for the Grandparent Representative position.
4. One (1) voting Foster Parent elected to the PAC must have child/children currently or previously enrolled in the HS/EHS program. There shall be one Alternate for the Foster Parent Representative position.
5. One (1) voting seat shall be specifically reserved for the Outgoing Chair, if not termed out. The Outgoing Chair reserves the right to relinquish this seat. The position may not be filled by any other party.
6. Two (2) voting Parent Ambassador Representatives shall be elected by the Parent Ambassador Committee. These Representatives may or may not be a current parent. There shall be two Alternates for the Parent Ambassador Representative position.

Community members desiring to be reappointed must apply for membership on a yearly basis.

### **SECTION 3: Policy Council Members**

Six (6) SOP PAC Representatives and six (6) Alternates shall be elected to the Policy Council. Representatives must be a parent of a child/children currently enrolled in the SOP Head Start program. Partner Representatives are not eligible to hold an SOP PAC Representative seat on the PC.

### **SECTION 4: Alternates**

Each SETA HS/EHS center holding membership on the PAC shall have a minimum of one Alternate. The Alternate(s) shall be elected in the same manner as the center Representative.

- A. Upon recognition of his or her status by the PAC Chair, an Alternate may be seated as a voting member of the PAC during the temporary absence of the elected Representative for whom he or she serves as an Alternate. However, an Alternate may not hold an office.
  1. A Representative missing two (2) consecutive regular meetings without an excused absence or missing a total of three (3) meetings

(regular/special, excused or unexcused) will automatically be removed and replaced by the Alternate.

2. The Alternate who attends meetings on behalf of an absent Representative will be recorded as Alternate Present (AP). An Alternate's AP attendance will not count as "present" for the Representative.
    - a. The Alternates' excused absence shall be recorded as Alternate Excused (AE) and Alternate Unexcused recorded as (AU).
    - b. For the policy on Alternate attendance reference Article III: Membership, Section 8.A: Absences.
    - c. An Alternate who does not attend a PAC meeting shall receive an attendance letter from the Clerk of the Boards.
  3. In the event an Alternate does not cast a vote during the program year, Alternate will not have served as a PAC Representative and term is not counted.
- B. Alternates are encouraged to attend meetings of the PAC on the same regular basis as members. However, the Alternate will not receive a reimbursement if the Alternate is not replacing the Representative.
- C. Should the Representative member be unable to fulfill their term of office, the first Alternate shall automatically serve in that capacity with all rights and privileges.
- D. Alternates are excluded from attending the following conferences: The National Head Start Association (NHSA) Parent Training Conference, the Region IX Head Start Association Annual Conference/Training, and the California Head Start Association (CHSA) Conference.

#### **SECTION 5: Other Provisions**

- A. By a two-thirds (2/3) vote of members present and voting, the PAC may establish and select additional voting members who shall serve as community members of the PAC.
- B. At least 51% of the voting membership of the PAC shall consist of parents whose children are currently enrolled in the program.
- C. Additional members may be added to ensure all program center options are proportionally represented on the PAC.
- D. No SETA HS/EHS or Delegate Agency staff (or member of their immediate

families) shall serve on the PAC except parents who occasionally substitute for regular HS or EHS staff. Occasional subbing is defined as once a week and/or not to exceed four (4) consecutive days in a month.

- E. Members holding a seat (member who has not been re-elected/replaced) at the Annual PAC meeting shall not be elected to represent PAC on the PC.
- F. Members who currently have a child/children currently enrolled in the HS/EHS program shall be eligible for election to represent the PAC on PC.

## **SECTION 7: Term of Office**

The term of each member shall be for one (1) program year, and said person may not serve more than five (5) program years. During the term of office, present members (and Alternates) shall serve in that capacity until one of the following situations occur: the Representative's voluntary termination; a new Representative from the center/program they currently represent is seated; the Representative is removed per Section 6A; or the Representative is termed out. Until such occurrence, Representatives must continue to represent the center or agency they were chosen to represent. The serving members representing Early Head Start (EHS) program options whose child aged out should continue until the end of one (1) program year term unless declined.

## **SECTION 8: Attendance**

It is each center Representative's responsibility to attend all PAC meetings and parent center meetings on a regular basis. If a member is unable to attend any PAC meeting, that member must notify: the Alternate and the Governance/Parent Engagement Coordinator, PAC Chair or the Clerk of the Boards.

- A. **Absences:**  
Any member or Alternate missing two (2) consecutive meetings without an excused absence or missing a total of three (3) meetings (regular or special) excused/unexcused will be automatically removed. An excused absence shall include but not be limited to sickness or death in the family. A member requesting an excused absence must call prior to the meeting: the Alternate, if the Alternate is known, and the Governance/Parent Engagement Coordinator, PAC Chair or the Clerk of the Boards.
- B. **Reinstatement:**  
The Representative or agency/group may request that a member who has been removed due to absences be reinstated in the event the Alternate declines. This request must be in writing and submitted to the Chair and Governance/Parent Engagement Coordinator within ten (10) calendar days. It is the final decision of the PAC Executive Committee whether any Representative shall be reinstated.



1. If a member holding an Executive office is reinstated, member is not reinstated to their Executive position.

C. **PAC Business:**

Members conducting PAC business and not at the PAC meeting, shall be neither present nor absent, but rather identified as PAC.

D. **Punctuality:**

Members arriving more than 15 minutes after the regular scheduled meeting or committee meeting start time will not receive a reimbursement unless approved by the Chair or Governance/Parent Engagement Coordinator.

Members are expected to stay throughout the duration of the meeting. The Secretary will keep track of representative's arrival time and notify the Clerk of the Boards accordingly.

E. **Quorum:**

For purposes of transacting the business of the PAC at any annual, regular, special, or emergency meeting, a quorum of the PAC shall be 41% of the current membership.

## **SECTION 9: Removal**

A PAC Representative may be removed by two-thirds (2/3) vote of all members present and voting whenever, in the judgment of the committee, the best interest would be served. Action to remove a member must be on the agenda.

# **Article IV**

## **Meetings**

### **SECTION 1: Meetings**

The PAC shall hold annual, regular, and special meetings.

A. **Annual Meeting**

The annual meeting of the PAC shall be held in November of each year.

B. **Regular Meetings**

Regular meetings of the PAC shall be held on the third Tuesday of each month at 10:00 a.m. at the Administrative Office Board Room, unless notice is otherwise provided. Those who are not voting members shall be allowed to join via Zoom. The Zoom invitation will be provided at least

72 hours before the meeting.

C. **Special Meetings**

Special meetings of the PAC may be called at anytime by the SETA Governing Board, SETA PC, SETA Executive Director, Children and Family Services Deputy Director, PAC Chair, or upon petition by at least a majority of the members of the PAC.

**SECTION 2: Meeting Notice**

Meeting notices shall include an agenda for the next meeting and PAC members shall be provided with the minutes of the preceding (annual, regular, special or emergency) meeting notification as indicated below:

A. **Annual and Regular Meetings**

Notice of annual and regular meeting of the PAC shall be in writing and provided to all members of the PAC and posted at least seventy-two (72) hours in advance of the meeting as required by the Ralph M. Brown Act. Staff shall endeavor to postmark such notice at least five (5) calendar days prior to the meeting, but failure to do so shall not preclude action, provided that the notice requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act have been satisfied.

B. **Special Meetings**

Members of the PAC must be notified in writing of special meetings not less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to any special meeting. Staff shall endeavor to provide such notice at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to any special meeting, but failure to do so shall not preclude action, provided that the notice requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act have been satisfied. No other business or discussion may be transacted or entertained at a special meeting of the PAC, excepting that business and/or discussion for which the special meeting was called.

C. **Emergency Meetings**

The PAC may hold emergency meetings as defined in the Ralph M. Brown Act without complying with the notice provisions of either Section 2A or Section 2B of this Article IV, provided that the PAC determines that an emergency situation as defined by the Ralph M. Brown Act exists.

D. **Committee Meetings**

Members of the PAC must be notified in writing of committee meetings. Notice of regularly scheduled meetings shall be provided in compliance with section 2A and 2B, above, shall be delivered personally, or by mail, and shall be

received at least twenty-four (24) hours before the time of such meeting as specified in the notice.

Any member missing two (2) consecutive committee meetings without an excused absence or missing a total of three (3) meetings excused/unexcused will be removed from that committee. An excused absence shall include but not be limited to sickness, death in the family, or conducting PAC business. A member requesting an excused absence must call the PAC Chair, Governance/Parent Engagement Coordinator or the Clerk of the Boards and request an excused absence prior to the meeting.

**E. Mailing Address**

1. Notices to all meetings of the PAC shall be in writing and delivered personally, or by mail, to the PAC members' address, as recorded in the PAC records. Representatives, Alternates, and Community members shall be personally responsible for the accuracy of mailing address.
2. Updated contact information should be submitted to the Governance/Parent Engagement Coordinator or Clerk of the Boards within ten (10) calendar days of change.

**SECTION 3: Meeting Reimbursement**

Each PAC member will receive reimbursement for reasonable expenses. This amount is determined by the Head Start Division according to the PAC Reimbursement Policies and Procedures.

Community Representatives may be eligible for reimbursement in instances where they are not on paid status in accordance with OHS Performance Standards.

Parents are not to bring small children to the meetings. If small children are present, member will be reimbursed for mileage/transportation only.

A. Members will receive reimbursement for the actual cost of child care (not to exceed \$60 in a 24-hour day, when attending conferences, workshops, trainings, orientation, Parent Leadership Institute or participation in the Agency hiring process) to be in alignment with PC/PAC Reimbursement Policies and Procedures. Additionally, mileage/transportation will be provided for attending required meetings/obligations listed below:

1. PAC (regular, annual, emergency and special meetings)
2. Interview/screening/exam panels
3. Standing Committee meetings (Budget/Planning, Personnel/Bylaws, Executive, Social/Hospitality, Parent Ambassador)
4. Office of Head Start (OHS) Monitoring Protocol Training/Review

- (reimbursement for training received after completion of first review – Monitoring/Evaluation Committee) and Program Self Assessment
- 5. Program Area Committees
- 6. Health Services Advisory Committee (HSAC)
- 7. Ad Hoc (special) Committee Meetings
- 8. Governing Board meetings (only applies to the Chair or an Executive Officer in the absence of the Chair)
- 9. Food Services Committee
- 10. Workforce Development Board and Committee Meetings (only applies to the Chair or an Executive Officer in the absence of the Chair.)

B. Member/Alternates who are a spouse or significant other will not each receive reimbursement.

C. Members will receive only one reimbursement per day, unless they left and went home/work for two (2) or more hours and is required to come back for another meeting. Members will only receive reimbursement for mileage for that meeting. Only members of said committee will be reimbursed for attending meetings. A lunch reimbursement or meal will be provided if a meeting or meetings exceed four (4) hours.

**SECTION 4: Rules of Procedures**

- A. The PAC shall conduct all meetings, regular, annual, special, or emergency in conformance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, California Government Code, Section 54950, et. seq.
- B. Except as specifically provided herein, Roberts Rules of Order<sup>1</sup> shall govern procedures in all meetings of the PAC. (A loaner copy of the Robert’s Rules of Order is available upon request.) Notwithstanding any contrary provision contained in these bylaws or Roberts Rule of Order, if a special meeting is called because a regular meeting has been canceled or because a quorum is unavailable at a regular meeting, any matter properly considered at a regular meeting may be considered at the special meeting, provided that all notice, quorum and meeting requirements of this Article IV regarding special meetings have been met.

**SECTION 5: Nominations/Elections**

PAC members or candidates must be present to be nominated or elected. However, if PAC member is absent due to PAC business, the member may be nominated or elected.

---

<sup>1</sup>Robert’s Rules of Order: *Simplified and Applied*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Copyright 2001.

## **SECTION 6: Voting**

Each PAC member has one vote which cannot be cast by proxy. In the event of a conflict of interest, affected members shall, consistent with the California Political Reform Act, disclose the existence of the conflict and shall neither participate in the deliberations regarding, nor vote on, the matter. Actions of the PAC may be taken only by a majority vote of all the members of the PAC, provided that any abstentions shall be counted as votes with the majority of those members actually voting. If a member has not voted because of disqualification due to a conflict of interest, that fact shall be noted in the minutes, and his/her vote shall not be recorded either as an affirmative vote, a negative vote or an abstention.

# **Article V**

## **Officers**

### **SECTION 1: Officers**

The officers of the PAC shall be the Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary, Treasurer, and Parliamentarian.

### **SECTION 2: Election and Term of Office**

- A. Officers of the PAC shall be elected at the next regularly scheduled meeting following the annual PAC meeting by a plurality vote of the PAC members present and voting, providing a quorum is present. Officers shall take office immediately following the election.
- B. All PAC members are eligible to run for an Office/Officer position except members holding a seat. The Executive Committee must have at least three members who are parents of child/children currently enrolled in the HS/EHS, Home Base Option.
- C. No member shall hold more than one (1) office at a time, and no member shall be eligible to serve more than two (2) terms in the same office.

### **SECTION 3: Duties of Officers**

The duties of PAC officers shall be as prescribed in these Bylaws and shall include such other duties as may be established by the PAC that are not in conflict with these Bylaws.

- A. The Chair of the PAC shall preside over all meetings of the PAC and implement all policies and programs of the PAC. The Chair shall act as the

official agent of the PAC in all matters relating to the PAC, and shall be the chief spokesperson and public relations officer for the PAC. The Chair shall have the power to appoint, both in and out of the PAC, any additional positions as needed with ratification of the PAC. The Chair shall represent the PAC at the National Head Start Parent Association Conference. The Chair shall be an ex-officio member of all committees and shall represent the PAC at all Governing Board meetings, but shall adhere to the provisions of Article IV, Meetings; Section 3, as it relates to reimbursement.

- B. The Vice Chair shall serve as Chair of the PAC in the absence of the Chair, and shall have all delegated powers. The Vice Chair will assume position of Chair if seat of Chair is vacated. An election will be held for Vice Chair. Should both the Chair and Vice Chair leave office simultaneously, an election will be held at the next regularly scheduled meeting to replace both. The Secretary shall preside over the election in this event. The Vice Chair shall oversee the Parent Ambassador Committee.
- C. The Secretary shall call the roll, keep a record of the current and preceding minutes at each meeting, and record resolutions or motions adapted, as may be necessary to expedite the PAC's business. The Secretary shall oversee the Social/Hospitality Committee, and shall be a member of the Parent Ambassador Committee.
- D. The Treasurer shall work with staff and the PAC Secretary and keep such records, files and accounts as may be necessary to expedite PAC's business. The Treasurer shall be a member of the Social/Hospitality Committee, and the Parent Ambassador Committee.
- E. The Parliamentarian shall advise the presiding officer on matters pertaining to Parliamentary procedure and oversee the Personnel/Bylaws Committee. If the Parliamentarian sits by the Chair, he or she is not entitled to make motions, discuss motions, or vote.

#### **SECTION 4: Vacancy**

In the event an officer is unable to perform his/her duties, including failure to learn and/or comply with the rules governing PAC (Bylaws, Brown Act, Robert's Rules of Order), or failure to act in the best interest of the committee; the PAC Chair shall appoint an interim officer until the officer returns to duty or is replaced at the next regularly scheduled meeting. The appointment must be made from among the membership of the PAC.

- A. In the event of a vacancy in the position of Chair, the Vice Chair becomes Chair until the next regular election in December.
- B. In the event of a vacancy in any other office, an election shall take place at the

next regular, annual or special meeting of the PAC.

## **Article VI**

### **Committees**

The quorum of the PAC shall be 41% of the committee membership. Membership is determined by the selection of the PAC. No committee meeting shall have a majority of PAC members present without proper public notice. Reference page Article III, Membership, Section 6, Attendance, A. Absences, for Standing and Program Area Committee meeting attendance.

Any member missing two (2) consecutive committee meetings without an excused absence or missing a total of three (3) meetings excused/unexcused will be removed from that committee. An excused absence shall include but not be limited to sickness, death in the family, or conducting PAC business. A member requesting an excused absence must call the PAC Chair, Governance/Parent Engagement Coordinator or Clerk of the Boards and request an excused absence prior to the meeting.

### **SECTION 1: Standing Committees**

There is, hereby, created standing committees of the PAC. The following are standing committees: Executive, Budget/Planning, Personnel/Bylaws, Social/Hospitality, and Parent Ambassador.

A. **Executive Committee**

The Executive Committee shall be comprised of all elected officers (per Article V of these By-laws). The Executive Committee shall perform the powers, duties, and functions of the PAC in emergency situations when the PAC cannot be convened or quorum cannot be obtained and such other powers, duties, and functions, as deemed necessary, be established by the PAC. The meeting may be called by the PAC Chair, the Children & Family Services Deputy Director, the SETA Executive Director, or the SETA Governing Board. The committee shall report to the full PAC, in writing, all actions for ratification at the next meeting.

B. **Budget/Planning Committee**

Budget/Planning Committee shall be comprised of the Treasurer and other Representatives who shall be selected by the PAC promptly after each annual meeting. This Committee shall review all HS/EHS budgets and modifications for the HS/EHS funding year and submit their review to the full PAC for approval. In addition, this Committee shall have input on program design and operations and long- and short-term planning goals and objectives. It is recommended that all HS/EHS budget modifications and amendments be

approved by the PAC prior to Policy Council approval. A monthly fiscal report shall be provided to the full PAC on the fiscal status of the HS/EHS budget. It shall be the duty of this committee to oversee the expenditures of the PAC and to report the acquired and expended amount of money to the full PAC.

C. **Personnel/Bylaws Committee**

The Personnel/Bylaws Committee shall be comprised of the Parliamentarian and Representatives. They shall be selected by the PAC promptly after each annual meeting. It shall be the duty of this committee to deal with all personnel matters and recommend any changes in Bylaws to the full PAC.

D. **Social/Hospitality Committee**

The Social/Hospitality Committee shall be comprised of the Secretary, Treasurer and Representatives selected by the PAC promptly after each annual meeting. The primary duty of this committee shall be to report to the full PAC all social activities.

E. **Parent Ambassador Committee**

The Parent Ambassador Committee shall be composed of one (1) staff, Representatives, former parents and other members who shall be selected after each annual meeting of the PAC. The Parent Ambassador Committee Representatives shall oversee the committee. Former parents who no longer serve on the PAC shall receive reimbursement for participation for one (1) program year. The duty of this committee shall be to promote all PAC trainings/events, Head Start children, and male involvement activities. It shall be the sole duty of this Committee to report the expenditures of funds to the PAC monthly.

## **SECTION 2: Program Area Committees**

There is hereby created Program Area Committees of the PAC. The following are Program Areas: Early Childhood Development and Health Services, Parent, Family and Community Engagement, Monitoring and Evaluation.

- ♦ **Early Childhood Development and Health Services Committee** shall be comprised of one (1) staff and representatives who shall plan and review the Early Childhood Development and Health Services program content area and participate in curriculum/instruction and health and safety.
- ♦ **Parent, Family and Community Engagement Committee** shall be comprised of one (1) staff and Representatives who shall plan and review the Parent, Family and Community Engagement Committee program area.
- ♦ **The Monitoring and Evaluation Committee** shall be comprised of one (1) staff and the Committee of the Whole who shall plan, review and oversee program.



- ♦ **The Food Services Committee** shall be comprised of one (1) staff and Representatives who shall plan, review and oversee program food service.

PAC Representatives shall select at least two (2) Program Area committees to serve on as described above. Special circumstances may be excused by the Chair.

### **SECTION 3: Special Committees**

When necessary to carry on the work of the PAC, other committees, such as Ad Hoc (special committees), shall be appointed by the Chair. Such committee must have a purpose and time frame for committee appointment. All elected committee meeting members attending approved special committee meetings will receive the standard reimbursement.

A report will be provided to the full PAC.

## **Article VII**

### **Reports**

#### **SECTION 1: Reports**

The following reports shall be provided to the PAC monthly. The purpose of reports is to maintain control of program quality and program accountability:

- ✓ Fiscal Reports (Budget Reports)
- ✓ Corporate Card Statement of Accounts (Credit Card Expense Report)
- ✓ USDA Meal/Snacks Report - Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) Report SOP
- ✓ Program Information Summaries (Monthly Head Start Report)
- ✓ Sacramento County HS/EHS Program Enrollment Report
- ✓ Monthly Average Daily Attendance Report

# Article VIII

## Bylaws Amendment

These Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the membership of the PAC present and voting, providing that:

- A. There is a quorum present.
- B. All proposals to amend these Bylaws be submitted in open session at a regular, annual or special meeting of the PAC. Proposals to amend these Bylaws must originate at least four full calendar weeks prior to the final voting and acceptance or rejection of the proposals.
- C. Written notice of the intention to amend these Bylaws be forwarded to members of the PAC at least five (5) calendar days prior to the regular, annual or special meeting when voting is to take place.
- D. The notice of intention to vote upon amendments shall include the specific Articles, Sections, or Sub-Sections to be voting upon, and further, that the specific language of the amendments and/or alterations be included in the notice of intention to amend.
- E. No voting on Bylaws amendments may take place except at a regular, annual or special meeting of the PAC.